Minnesota Needs Assessment: Research, Evaluation, Assessment, and Data Use in Schools



Minnesota Needs Assessment: Research, Evaluation, Assessment, and Data Use in Schools

Citation:

Center for Applied Research and Educational Improvement (CAREI). (February, 2016). *Minnesota Needs Assessment: Research, Evaluation, Assessment, and Data Use in Schools*. Minneapolis: CAREI at the University of Minnesota.

Prepared by Senior Editors Theodore J. Christ and Kimberly Gibbons with data collection, analysis and reporting by Jane Fields and Beverly Dretzke.





Center for Applied Research and Educational Improvement

Learning and Environmental Sciences Building, Suite 425 1954 Buford Avenue St. Paul, Minnesota 55108 Email: CAREI@umn.edu Website: www.cehd.umn.edu/CAREI Phone: 612-624-0300

The CAREI Team

Theodore J. Christ, PhD, **Director** Email: CAREI-Director@umn.edu Phone: 612-624-7068 Kimberly Gibbons, PhD, **Associate Director for Innovation and Outreach** Email: kgibbons@umn.edu Phone: 612-625-9751 Delia Kundin, PhD, **Associate Director for Evaluation Services** Email: dkundin@umn.edu Phone: 612-624-2932 Danielle Dupuis, PhD, **Assistant Director for Research and Assessment Services** Email: ddupuis@umn.edu Phone: 612-626-7896

Project Leads (alphabetical order): Beverly Dretzke, PhD, Jane Fields, PhD, Debra Ingram, PhD, Michael Michlin, PhD, Timothy Sheldon, PhD, and Kristen Peterson, MA. **Project Affiliates** (alphabetical order): Dale Blyth, PhD, Clayton Cook, PhD, Amanuel Medhanie, PhD, Faith Miller, Elton Mykerezi, PhD, Gillian Roehrig, PhD, Aaron Sojourner, PhD, and Kyla Wahlstrom, PhD. **Research Assistants** (alphabetical order): Julia Baker, MA, Ethan Brown MA, Elyse Farnsworth, MA, Claire Harty, Jason Johnson, Aly Shultz, Wei Song, MA, Calvin Streit, and Kory Vue, MA

© 2016 by T. Christ, K. Gibbons, J. Fields and B. Dretzke at the Center for Applied Research and Educational Improvement, University of Minnesota. All rights reserved.



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The study was made possible with funding from the Center for Applied Research and Educational Improvement (CAREI) and by the many individuals and organizations that generously shared their time and insights (see below for a list). We learned a great deal from them. We hope to conveyed what we learned in this brief report.

This report was not reviewed by all of the participating organizations or individuals prior to publication. They are listed to recognize their contribution and not to represent their support or endorsement of the findings.

THANK YOU TO THOSE WHO CONTRIBUTED THEIR TIME AND INSIGHTS

ORGANIZATIONS THAT PARTICIPATED (ALPHABETICAL ORDER)

- Association of Metropolitan School Districts (AMSD)
- Education Minnesota
- Minnesota Administrators for Special Education (MASE)
- Minnesota Assessment Group (MAG)
- Minnesota Association of School Administrators (MASA)
- Minnesota Association of Secondary School Principals (MASSP)
- Minnesota Business Partnership (MBP)
- Minnesota District Assessment Coordinators (DACs)
- Member Districts of the CAREI Assembly
- Minnesota Elementary School Principals' Association (MESPA)
- Minnesota Rural Education Association (MREA)
- Minnesota School Boards Association (MSBA)
- Minnesota Superintendents Association (MSA)
- Schools for Equity in Education (SEE)

PEOPLE WHO PARTICIPATED (ALPHABETICAL ORDER)

- Jim Angermeyr, President, Educational Assessment and Evaluation Services, LLC and former Executive Director of Research, Evaluation & Assessment, Bloomington Public Schools
- Jim Bartholomew, Educational Policy Director, Minnesota Business Partnership
- Susan M. Burris, Director, Central Lakes Regional Center of Excellence
- Ann Clark, Program Manager for the Regional Centers of Excellence and former Director, SE-Metro Regional Center of Excellence
- Toni Cox, Director, Northern Sky Regional Center of Excellence
- Mark Davison, American Guidance Service, Inc./John P. Yackel Professorship in Educational Assessment and Measurement, former Director of the Office of Educational Accountability, University of Minnesota
- Meredith Fergus, State Grant Data and Analysis, Minnesota Office of Higher Education
- Scott Fitzsimonds, Statewide Data Specialist, Regional Centers of Excellence
- Dave Heistad, Executive Director of Research, Evaluation & Assessment, Bloomington Public Schools and former Director of Research, Evaluation & Assessment, Minneapolis Public Schools
- Mary Jacobson, Director, Western Lakes Regional Center of Excellence



- Greg Keith, Director of the Division of School Support, Minnesota Department of Education
- Geoff Maruyama, Professor and Chair, Department of Educational Psychology and former Director of the Center for Applied Research and Educational Improvement, University of Minnesota
- Katie Pekel, Principal in Residence and Co-Director of Minnesota Principals' Academy, University of Minnesota
- Kent Pekel, Executive Director, SEARCH Institute
- Larry Pogemiller, Commissioner, Minnesota Office of Higher Education
- Gary Prest, Director for Administrative Licensure Program, College of Education and Human Development, University of Minnesota
- Melany Wellnitz, Director, Southwest Prairie Regional Center of Excellence



CONTENTS

Acknowledgments (iv)	
Thank You to Those Who Contributed Their Time and Insights	iv
Organizations That Participated (alphabetical Order)	iv
People Who Participated (Alphabetical Order)	iv
Executive Summary (vii)	
Introduction	vii
Key Findings and Results	vii
Conclusions	viii
1) Build the Infrastructure and Capacity at Reasonable Costs	viii
2) Meet the Unmet Needs	viii
3) Leverage CAREI and the University: Networks of Improvement	ix
Introduction (1)	
About CAREI	1
Research, Development and Engagement to Improve Education	1
CAREI's Mission	1
CAREI's Diversity statement	2
Educational Outcomes for Students in Minnesota	2
Analysing and Reporting Achievement Gaps: Guidance for Minnesota Schools	4
Common Barriers and Unmet Needs	5
Data Improves Outcomes	5
Data Use and Data Literacy	7
Purpose of the Needs Assessment	7
Methodology and Data Collection (8)	

Results (10)

I. Educator Beliefs: Research, Evaluation, Assessment, and Data Use	10
II. Unmet Needs of Educators: Research, Evaluation, Assessment, and Data Use	11
III. Barriers and Capacity of Districts/Systems: Research, Evaluation, Assessment, and Data Use	12
IV. needs of districts/systems: Research, Evaluation, Assessment, and Data Use	14
CAREI's Capacity to Respond to Unmet Needs (15)	
Proposed Solution	15

Summary (16)



INTRODUCTION

Minnesotans value education. Education is the largest financial investment in the state budget, and those investments place Minnesota students among the top performers in the nation. Still, substantial gaps in opportunity and performance persist.

The three purposes of the needs assessment were to:

- 1. Describe infrastructure, capacity, and costs of program evaluation and educational assessment;
- 2. Identify unmet needs; and
- 3. Evaluate how CAREI might contribute a solution.

This report summarized the findings of our study. It also provides a brief summary of how the Center for Applied Research and Educational Improvement (CAREI) might be used to network and leverage personnel, expertise, and resources to solve pressing problems. CAREI can contribute to expand infrastructure and capacities that meet the needs of education in the state with a high return on investment.

KEY FINDINGS AND RESULTS

The conclusions from our 2015 statewide needs assessment are very clear. There are substantial unmet needs at all levels of the Minnesota educational systems with respect to research, evaluation, assessment, and data use. CAREI initiated this needs assessment in February of 2015. An initial draft of the report was made available for public comment in November, and the report was finalized and distributed in December of 2015.

Researchers and evaluators from CAREI interviewed and surveyed educational leaders and other stakeholders. For the purpose of the needs assessment, CAREI gathered input from approximately 800 individuals and 13 professional organizations. The following are some key findings.

- A large majority of respondents believe **good quality data can improve educational decisions**. Nearly everyone with whom we spoke articulated that they would benefit from additional assistance in the use of data.
- A large percentage of survey respondents indicated **their school's or district's capacity to effectively use data to guide educational decisions was fair or poor**. Despite substantial motivations and efforts to use data, most educational systems in Minnesota lack the capacity to meet their own needs for data-based decision making.
- Educational professionals consistently described the need for **additional resources** to help them use data. There are very limited resources at all levels of the educational systems in Minnesota to access, analyze, present, and interpret data in a timely and effective manner.
- Respondents consistently described the **need for professional development and expert consultation** to assist, automate, and deliver timely reports and provide guidance for the use of data for educational decisions.



- Educational leaders indicated that they **do not have the time or personnel** to design, develop, or implement assessment and evaluation programs that would effectively inform leadership and practice. The results of surveys indicate that those professionals are too few in number in Minnesota and, perhaps, too costly for many educational systems to afford.
- Relatively few school districts in Minnesota employ **professionals with advanced training in research, program evaluation, or assessment/measurement**. Those are generally the largest districts concentrated in the metro region such that most rural and out-state systems with limited capacity and expertise.

CONCLUSIONS

1) BUILD THE INFRASTRUCTURE AND CAPACITY AT REASONABLE COSTS

Like many other states, Minnesota has established rigorous systems for accountability, which include state standards. It has also established useful programs for data collection. Those include the Minnesota Comprehensive Assessments (MCAs), the Minnesota Student Survey, and the Minnesota Statewide Longitudinal Education Data System (SLEDS). The returns on those and other investments have yet to be realized, in part, because there are substantial unmet needs for educational systems and professionals to use them. Additional supports may substantial improve their uses by policy makers, educational leaders, and educators.

Those who responded to the interviews and surveys consistently indicated a lack of resources and expertise to support their efforts. To truly leverage state and local investments, **professional educators require infrastructure to build capacity and efficiencies to use data that improve educational outcomes**.

2) MEET THE UNMET NEEDS

The results indicate the following are some of the unmet needs throughout the state. The needs were most substantially unmet in rural and other high need communities.

- Infrastructure: Educational networks for data use and school improvement are an unmet need in many areas of the state. Public and centralized services are needed to identify common challenges among districts and coordinate efforts to implement solutions.
- **Capacity**: Districts have limited capacity to provide uniform and high quality research, assessment, and evaluation services. These services improve outcomes only when they are done well and too few districts have the necessary personnel and resources.
- Efficiency: It is too costly for most districts to hire the necessary personnel and invest the necessary resources to efficiently and effectively support data-based decision making. The lack of centralized services to support those practices throughout the state represents an unmet need that limits the potential of Minnesota's educational systems.
- **Time**: Data are often difficult to access and require time to prepare before the data can guide educational decisions. Leaders, educators and systems of education need others to do this time-intensive work and they need it done more efficiently. The analysis and reports should be available soon after data collection, not months later when interest and opportunities to use the data have passed.



- Ease of use: It is hard to use data to inform decisions without sufficient supports. *Ease of use* is an unmet need. Preparation, analysis, and reporting of data are difficult when they are not centralized or automated. Because they are not, each educational agency must invest personnel time to prepare data, automate analysis, refine methods, and build reports.
- **Training**: There is a need for professional development to improve data literacy (i.e., analyze, display, interpret, and use data). Too few educators are well-prepared to collect and use data systematically and effectively.
- **Expertise and personnel**: The Minnesota Department of Education and local educational agencies struggle to recruit, retain, and afford staff with the required training and expertise within the domains of research, evaluation, assessment, and data use. There is a substantial need and potential benefit if the state can network those experts with policy makers, educational leaders, and educators.

3) LEVERAGE CAREI AND THE UNIVERSITY: NETWORKS OF IMPROVEMENT

Although there are already investments and infrastructure that establish rigorous standards and accountability, there are not complementary investments and infrastructure for agencies and professionals to learn and improve through the use of data. Data and standards for accountability are ineffective in lieu of the capacity to change. As was described to us by almost all of those interviewed and surveyed, professional educators believe in data, rigor, and improvement. There are simply too many unmet needs that limit their capacity to improve. Progress is unlikely without enhanced capacity.

There is an opportunity to use CAREI and the University as a solution. The most scalable and cost efficient solution is to leverage the existing expertise and resources at CAREI to build enhanced capacity throughout the state. CAREI can establish cost effective and highly efficient Networked Improvement Communities (NICs)^{1,2} that are comprised of policy makers, the Minnesota Department of Education, districts, schools, and educational professionals. Efforts will be organized through voluntary participation in specific problem-focused collaboratives that arise from needs throughout the state. For example, collaborative might emerge for early childhood education, technology initiatives, benchmark assessments, standards-based grading, or the achievement gap. CAREI will build and maintain the infrastructure, services, and processes for shared and equitable capacity throughout the state.

In its 25th year of service, CAREI is well-positioned to address many of the unmet needs with respect to networks and services for research, evaluation, assessment, and data use. A brief description of this proposed solution is presented at the conclusion of this report (p. 15).

² Bryk, A.S., Gomez, L.M., Grunow, A. (2010). Stanford, CA: Getting Ideas into Action: Building Networked Improvement Communities in education. Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. <u>http://www.carnegiefoundation.org/resources/publications/getting-ideas-action-building-networked-improvement-communities-education/</u>



¹ Bryk, A. S., Gomez, L. M., Grunow, A., & Lemahieu, P. G. (2015). *Learning to Improve: How America's Schools Can Get Better at Getting Better*. Harvard Education Press: Massachusetts.

ABOUT CAREI

CAREI was established in 1988 as an independent college-wide center at the University of Minnesota to conduct rigorous, unbiased evaluation of innovative practices and policies in education. CAREI has completed more than 250 evaluation and research studies funded by federal and state agencies, local educational agencies (i.e., school districts), and foundations in excess of \$30 million. CAREI's staff includes Project Leads with PhDs in relevant and diverse domains. Those include educational psychology, statistics and measurement, curriculum and instruction, educational policy and administration, educational leadership and evaluation studies. Those Project Leads coordinate research teams and collaborate with content experts and community members.

RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND ENGAGEMENT TO IMPROVE EDUCATION

The New CAREI is invested in **Research, Development and Engagement to Improve Education.** In its 25th year, CAREI has an expanded mission (see below) and new leadership:

- Dr. Theodore J Christ, Director;
- Dr. Delia Kundin, Associate Director for Evaluation Services;
- Dr. Kimberly Gibbons, Associate Director for Innovation and Outreach; and
- Dr. Danielle Dupuis, Assistant Director for Research and Assessment Services.

In addition, CAREI is comprised of a team of 11 Project Leaders (10 PhD, 1 MA) and a large team of Research Assistants.

There are substantial state and federal resources invested at CAREI and at the University of Minnesota. That provides CAREI access to equipment, facilities, technology support, libraries, and an extensive network of University-based researchers and experts. There are many faculty at the University who consult with and guide educational agencies across the country and around the world. Their expertise and value is widely sought. **These experts live right here in Minnesota**. Their children go to our schools. They value our communities. They are both invested and motivated to serve Minnesota policy makers, leaders, educators and agencies.

There is substantial potential for CAREI contribute innovative solutions to education in Minnesota, but we must first identify the needs. To that end, we engaged in this needs assessment to determine what policy makers, state education agencies, local educational agencies, schools, and educational professionals would like from CAREI.

CAREI'S MISSION

CAREI's mission is to improve the quality of education for all learners, and thereby society as a whole, through research, development, and engagement. As applied researchers and evaluators, we believe that we can have an immediate impact on our communities. Accordingly, we listen to and work with our clients and partners to understand their experiences.



Page | 1

CAREI'S DIVERSITY STATEMENT

Individuals experience the world differently because they come from different places and have varied experiences. At CAREI, we recognize that all people have strengths, skills, and challenges, so we work to understand these differences.

Our work requires us to actively reflect on how our methods and interpretations of data may perpetuate privilege and prevailing assumptions. We strive to prevent overgeneralization of majority culture and beliefs, especially when these beliefs bump up against our diverse communities, cultures, genders, races, ethnicities, (dis)abilities, lifestyles, and contexts.

EDUCATIONAL OUTCOMES FOR STUDENTS IN MINNESOTA



In June 2015, policy makers in Minnesota approved a two-year, \$17 billion education budget. That budget invests in early learning initiatives and reading tutors along with targeted programs for American Indian and second language English learners. Many programs are intended to raise the rate of graduation, improve career and college readiness, and close the achievement gap. In addition, the per pupil revenue will increase to \$12,533 by 2017 when general unweighted pupil revenue, food service, and debt service aid are combined.³

Minnesotans value education. Education is the most substantial investment in the state budget, and those investments place Minnesota students among the top performers in the nation; however, substantial gaps in opportunity and

performance persist between White students and students of color.⁴ Although less well publicized, there are also notable gaps for students in poverty, non-native English language learners, and students with disabilities.⁵ These performance gaps are observed on the Minnesota Comprehensive Assessments (MCAs), the ACT college admissions test, and graduation rates. They are some of the most substantial gaps in the country⁶ and many of our children fail to thrive or meet the rigorous standards⁷ we set.

On the 2015 MCAs, 59.5% of students were proficient in reading and 60.2% were proficient in math.⁸ While many Minnesota students met grade level proficiency standards, approximately 40% did not meet standards for proficiency in

⁷ For information on MN's K-12 academic standards, see <u>http://education.state.mn.us/mde/edexc/stancurri/k-12academicstandards/.</u> ⁸ MDE Report Card: http://rc.education.state.mn.us/



³ Office of the Governor Blog. (2015, July 1). New Investments in E-12 Education Take Effect Today. <u>http://mn.gov/governor/blog/the-office-of-the-governor-blog-entry-detail.jsp?id=102-166807.</u>

⁴ <u>http://www.education.state.mn.us/MDE/Welcome/OfficeCom/CloseAchievGap/index.html</u>

⁵ See <u>http://www.education.state.mn.us/MDE/Welcome/OfficeCom/CloseAchievGap/056710</u> for more information on achievement gaps between students receiving free and reduced price lunch, special education students, and English Language Learners and more advantaged peers. ⁶ http://www.startribune.com/minnesota-s-achievement-gap-debated-at-nabj-conference/321150101/;

http://www.education.state.mn.us/MDE/Welcome/OfficeCom/CloseAchievGap/056710; http://minnesota.cbslocal.com/2013/08/21/goodquestion-why-such-a-large-achievement-gap-in-mn-classrooms/; http://www.startribune.com/minnesota-fourth-graders-see-drop-in-mathreading-scores-on-national-exam/337784361/

reading or math. Proficiency rates were less among students of color (see Figure 1 for information on Minnesota's statewide reading proficiency by race/ethnic group; see Figure 1, p. 3). There are substantial gaps in opportunity and proficiency in reading and math across ethic groups.



Figure 1. Minnesota Statewide Reading, Percent Proficient by Race/Ethnic Group⁹



Figure 2. Minnesota Statewide Math, Percent Proficient by Race/Ethnic Group¹⁰

⁹ <u>http://rc.education.state.mn.us/#</u>

¹⁰ <u>http://rc.education.state.mn.us/#</u>



The average ACT composite score in 2015 for White students was 23.7. It was 17.6 for Black/African American students, 19.3 for American Indian/Alaska Native students, 19.8 for Hispanic/Latino students, 20.7 for Asian students, and 20.1 for Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander students.¹¹ In 2014, 86% of White students graduated as compared to 51% of American Indian/Alaskan Native students, 60% of Black students, 63% of Hispanic students, and 87% of Asian students.¹² If schools continue with current practices, they can expect to continue getting the same results. Putting an increased emphasis on research, program evaluation, and data literacy will provide Minnesota districts with the information that will promote program improvement and accelerate outcomes for all students.

ANALYSING AND REPORTING ACHIEVEMENT GAPS: GUIDANCE FOR MINNESOTA SCHOOLS

The document entitled *Analyzing and Reporting Achievement Gaps: Guidance for Minnesota Schools* was recently released. This report emerged from a three-year collaboration between personnel at the University of Minnesota and members of the Minnesota Assessment Group (MAG). It provides key guidance for ongoing efforts to understand and

reduce the achievement gap and improve educational outcomes. The report provide includes a concise definition of an achievement gap, which is an often misunderstood. It also provides nuanced guidance for analyses, reports, and communications about achievement and achievement gaps. That includes guidance for state and local educational agencies to estimate the size of an

"Achievement gaps represent the condition where achievement can be predicted by non-academic factors, such as race, ethnicity, income, or neighborhood" (Rodriguez et al., 2016, p. 2).

achievement gap in standardized units so to make the magnitude of achievement differences clear (Small \geq .2, Medium \geq .50, Large \geq .80). This illustrates a collaboration to enhance Minnesota's to use evidence and data for education.

Although the report illustrates the potential of these collaborations, the process by which it was developed also illustrates the barriers. **There was no funding or infrastructure to support the work**. The lack of infrastructure and investment prevents many projects like this from emerging; and, if they emerge, they often do not persist.



¹¹ http://www.act.org/newsroom/data/2015/states.html; http://www.act.org/newsroom/data/2015/pdf/profile/Minnesota.pdf; http://www.startribune.com/minnesota-fourth-graders-see-drop-in-math-reading-scores-on-national-exam/337784361/ ¹² MDE Report Card: : http://rc.education.state.mn.us/



COMMON BARRIERS AND UNMET NEEDS

Many people have noted that schools and districts have access to large quantities of data, but may not understand how to use that data to improve student outcomes; in fact, the phrase "data rich, but information poor" has been used to describe this situation.¹³ Successful schools use data to aid their decision-making.

DATA IMPROVES OUTCOMES

A recent study found that five school districts that showed three years of improvement in student achievement used a common set of strategies, one of which was "...extensive use of data. The districts did not just talk about data; they used data to guide important decisions about teaching and learning."¹⁴

More recently, a large urban district in the upper Midwest showed a substantial positive change in high school graduation rates. Their success was attributed to high quality use of data and evidence-based practices.

"Thoughtful, committed educators simply figured out what mattered and launched a groundswell of changes.... It began with smart research and good data."¹⁵

Slotnik & Orland (2010) stated the following:

Improving the nation's schools requires breaking the pattern of being data-rich but information-poor. Building the capacity to convert data to information would give educators and policymakers the tools needed to probe for causes of underperformance, analyze the conditions that are contributing to varying levels of student achievement, and develop and implement improvement strategies based on these analyses. Teachers, administrators, and policymakers critically need these capacities.

In addition, many school districts in Minnesota and around the nation are using Response-to-Intervention (RtI) or Multi-Tiered Systems of Supports (MTSS) to improve outcomes for all students and close the achievement gap for at-risk students. MTSS/RtI has quickly emerged as a framework to improve outcomes for all students through high-quality instruction tailored to student needs within a data-based decision-making model. A recent meta-analysis indicated that an RtI framework, implemented with fidelity, has an effect size of 1.09.¹⁶ This is equivalent to a learning rates accelerated by two-to-three years. Currently, two sources of data exist in Minnesota regarding RtI implementation: (1) the 2014 RtI Implementation Survey conducted by Wilder Research,¹⁷ and (2) recommendations from a legislatively mandated RtI task force.

In 2014, Wilder Research, in collaboration with the Minnesota Department of Education, developed and disseminated the Rtl Implementation Survey to all Minnesota school districts. Over 1500 schools completed the survey, and the

¹³ Slotnik, W.J., & Orland, M. (May 6, 2010). Data Rich but Information Poor. *Education Week, 29* (31).

http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2010/05/06/31slotnik.h29.html; Harris, S., Edmonson, S., & Combs, J. (2013). Examining what we do to improve our schools: 8 steps from analysis to action. New York: Routledge.

- ¹⁴ Togneri, W., & Anderson, S.E. (September-October, 2003). How high poverty districts improve. *Leadership*, 33(1), pp. 12-16.
- ¹⁵ Knowles, T. (2014, April 25). Pushing Chicago's graduation rates to new heights. *Chicago Tribune*. <u>http://articles.chicagotribune.com/2014-04-</u> 25/opinion/ct-dropout-crisis-chicago-solution-perspec-0425-20140425_1_school-graduation-graduation-rate-new-heights

¹⁷ Gozali-Lee, E. (2014, June). Overall Results of the 2014 Minnesota Response to Intervention Implementation Survey. St. Paul, MN: Wilder Research.



¹⁶ Hattie, J. (2012). Visible learning for teachers: Maximizing impact on learning. Routledge.

results found that 27% of schools reported full implementation of the framework and a substantial percentage reported partial implementation of the framework; however, programs that are partially or poorly implemented do not cause gains similar to those with full and high quality implementation. The results of this survey identified many needs in the area of data-based decision making (see Table 1). For example, only 12% of districts responding to the survey indicated that they were at full implementation with respect to using standards-based grading systems and only 19% of districts are evaluating the interventions they are using with subgroups of students to determine their effectiveness. Overall, the results of the survey point to many unmet needs in the areas of data use and decision-making.

Table 1. Response to Intervention (RtI) Implementation Survey Results: Data-Based Decision Making

Survey Item	"Fully Implementing" (%)
Assessments at the lesson and unit levels are valid and reliable indicators of progress toward grade level benchmarks.	30%
Standards-based grading system that measures and monitors progress toward benchmarks is in place with reliable ratings between staff.	12%
Instructional staff understand and can communicate to parents/guardians the purposes and value of the assessments used, as well as their limitations.	34%
Data used for decision-making are accessible and timely for instructional planning.	40%
Multiple assessment measures are used to review the overall effectiveness of universal curriculum and instruction for sub-groups of students and instruction is adjusted accordingly.	21%
Supplemental interventions provided to students are evaluated for their effectiveness and efficiency in moving <u>all</u> students toward proficiency.	29%
Supplemental interventions provided to students are evaluated for their effectiveness and efficiency in moving <u>subgroups</u> of students toward proficiency.	19%
Schools use valid and reliable tools to monitor the progress of students receiving additional support.	39%
Service providers or data teams frequently review progress monitoring data to gauge whether students are making adequate progress.	34%

In addition, a result of the 2014 Legislative Session was a legislative mandate to the Minnesota Commissioner of Education to develop recommendations, consistent with *Minnesota Statutes, section 125A.56*, for improving the academic performance of students through a multi-tiered system of early intervention and instructional support. As a result, a task force was formed to carry out the legislative mandate. Several recommendations emerged from this work. One, among others, was that every district should have a defined MTSS model along with <u>technical assistance and support to districts</u>. In addition, it was recommended that accountability systems within districts and schools be established to ensure that practices are evidence-based, culturally relevant, implemented with fidelity, and used to improve student outcomes and close gaps in achievement. These practices are best implemented and mostly likely to be



effective when they are systematically evaluated with data. Data systems and data literacy are fundamental to improvement.

DATA USE AND DATA LITERACY

Improvement occurs when valid data are collected with fidelity *and* used. Although a wealth of data are available and accountability policies have strongly encouraged the use of data to inform decisions and track progress, many studies have identified barriers to effective data use.¹⁸ Professionals can learn and respond to data only if they have the knowledge, skills, interest, time, and access to the right types of data. Published researched indicates those requirements are rarely met.¹⁹

Barriers and unmet needs often include:

- a) Access to the right types of high quality data that are useful to guide their decisions²⁰
- b) **Timely and convenient access** to data or reports prepared by highly qualified personnel;
- c) The **time** to analyze and use data and evidence to inform educational decisions ²¹; and
- d) Access to experts and professional development to build the skills and knowledge use data effectively.²²

The leadership at CAREI expected there were similar barriers and unmet needs in Minnesota. In fact, the Educator Policy Innovation Center (EPIC), founded by Education Minnesota, convened teachers from across Minnesota to evaluate the current role of testing in our state in 2015. This group reached consensus on a number of recommendations including supporting teachers in creating, using, interpreting, and improving a range of assessment tools. Thus, we undertook a statewide needs assessment designed to examine the current capacity and unmet needs of school districts and educational agencies in Minnesota in the areas of research, evaluation, assessment, and data use.

PURPOSE OF THE NEEDS ASSESSMENT

The purpose of this study was to implement a systematic process to learn from and respond to the assessment (collection of data) and evaluation (use of data) at all levels of Minnesota educational system. This report is the first part of **problem solving**.

- 1. Problem identification and definitions: Define barriers and unmet needs in Minnesota that prevent educational systems and professionals from learning and responding to data;
- 2. Problem analysis: Evaluate and determine what causes and maintains the problem; and
- 3. Plan and propose a solution: Devise the intervention and necessary resources and propose it to those who allocate those resources.

The next step is to implement and monitor the implementation of a plan/solution.

²² Marsh, J. A., Pane, J. F., & Hamilton, L. S. (2006). *Making sense of data-driven decision making in education: Evidence from recent RAND research* (No. OP-170-EDU). Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation.



 ¹⁸ Marsh, J. A. (2012). Interventions promoting educators' use of data: Research insights and gaps. *Teachers College Record*, *114*(*11*), 1-48.
¹⁹ Marsh, J. A. (2012). Interventions promoting educators' use of data: Research insights and gaps. *Teachers College Record*, *114*(*11*), 1-48.
²⁰ Coburn, C. E., Honig, M. I., & Stein, M. K. (2009). What's the evidence on district's use of evidence? In J. Bransford, D. J. Stipek, N. J. Vye, L. Gomez, & D. Lam (Eds.), *Educational improvement: What makes it happen and why*? (pp. 67-86). Cambridge, MA: Harvard Educational Press.
²¹ Ingram, D., Louis, K.S., & Schroeder, R. G. (2004). Accountability policies and teacher decision making: Barriers to the use of data to improve practice. *Teachers College Record*, *106*(*6*), 1258-1287.

In brief, this report summarizes the barriers and unmet needs in Minnesota along with a proposed solution to **enhance the infrastructure and capacity to improve overcomes** at reasonable cost and with substantial return on investment.

METHODOLOGY AND DATA COLLECTION

CAREI spent much of 2015 engaged in reviewing relevant reports, conducting interviews, and administering surveys in an effort to identify the unmet research, evaluation, assessment, and data needs in Minnesota's educational systems. We met with many key stakeholders to learn about their needs and situations. A list of individuals and professional organizations that participated was presented earlier in this report (Acknowledgments, p. iv). Table 2 provides a brief summary of the methods and data sources.

CAREI leadership participated in meetings to interview and discuss the needs and possible solutions with the leadership of many state organizations. Subsequently, CAREI staff developed and administered surveys with content that reflected what we learned in our initial meetings. The process was iterative in that we refined our methods as we learned more about the needs and possible solutions that were described to us. For example, CAREI assembly districts were surveyed and/or leadership was interviewed early in the process. Those responses informed the development of subsequent surveys and interviews. In addition, various resources and reports were identified in these meetings, which we selectively reviewed and used to guide the study.

Surveys were developed in collaboration with educational agencies and professional organizations (e.g., MREA, MASE, MASA, and DACs). Each survey was customized for the targeted group and to accommodate the preferences of the various groups. Although each survey was intended to yield data with similar interpretations and uses, the wording and composition of items varied across surveys. The results were aggregated when appropriate, and they are often presented together in this report to ease interpretation and use.²³

Data Source	Participants (<i>N</i>)
Individual Interviews with Key Stakeholders and Organizations	13
Group Interview with Directors of Regional Centers of Excellence	5
Input from Member Districts of the CAREI Assembly	16
Discussion with Members of the Minnesota Assessment Group (MAG)	15
Survey of Minnesota Rural Education Association (MREA) members	418
Survey of Minnesota Administrators of Special Education (MASE) and Minnesota Association of School Administrators (MASA)	119
Survey of Minnesota District Assessment Coordinators (DACs)	219
TOTAL	807

Table 2. Data Collection Activities and Number of Participants

²³ The results from the surveys are available on the CAREI website (<u>http://www.cehd.umn.edu/CAREI/</u>) or email (CAREI-Director@umn.edu)

The information obtained from the interviews and the surveys are combined and summarized according to the following themes of research, evaluation, assessment and data use.

- 1. Educator Beliefs
- 2. Unmet Needs of Educators
- 3. Barriers and Capacity of Districts/Systems; and
- 4. Unmet Needs of Districts/Systems.

The results are presented in the next section.



A *word cloud* is presented above. The prominence of each word corresponds to its frequency of occurrence in interviews, meetings, and surveys that informed this evaluation.

Prominently words in the cloud (above) coincide with some common themes, which emphasize the need for services (online tools/portals to college, manage, access, review and understand data) along with access to expertise and personnel (resources, staff, training, and experts) to streamline the use of data to make informed decisions.



RESULTS

I. EDUCATOR BELIEFS: RESEARCH, EVALUATION, ASSESSMENT, AND DATA USE

Survey respondents were asked to check the areas in which data reports would be helpful. In general, most respondents believe that quality data can improve decision-making. In our interviews and conversations, nearly everyone with whom we spoke was able to articulate ways in which they or their members could benefit from additional assistance.



Figure 3. District and School Leaders: Usefulness of Data Reports

Expert Insights

In the interviews, several stakeholders suggested that CAREI work with the SLEDS (the MN Statewide Longitudinal Education Data System) database to provide information about student pathways from kindergarten, through enrollment in and completion of post-secondary education, to employment.



1. Data to monitor and improve outcomes: Over 70% of the respondents indicated that data reports would be helpful to monitor individual student progress (77%), track system improvement (75%), tailor instruction for differentiation (73%), develop instructional recommendations (71%), evaluate school and district programs (70%), and identify professional development needs (70%).

> "We need more professional development around using data from tests and having that impact instruction and interventions."

2. Data are useful: Almost all respondents (98%) disagreed with the statement "data reports would <u>not</u> be helpful." Leaders and educators believe in the use of data.

3. Limited awareness for data use: Only about half of respondents indicated data reports are useful to assign students to classes or groups (52%) or inform school or district policies (47%). There is a need to increase awareness for the use of data and reports.

"We have lots of data, but we struggle with helping teachers use the data to drive instruction effectively." Survey results identified critical barriers and unmet needs. Educators need more timely access to data, professional development, time to use data, and access to prepared reports to use data. They also require expert assistance for training, preparation of reports, and support to use the reports to guide important educational decisions.



*Not included on the MN Rural Education Association Survey.

Figure 4. District and School Leaders: Unmet Needs

4. **Timely access to data**: 72% of educators need more timely and immediate access to data; 71% need more time to use data.



5. **Professional development and support:** 69% of educators need additional training and support to use data; 61% would like someone to help with the analysis of data and the creation of useful reports; 59% need access to more knowledgeable staff or experts; 49% indicate a need for standards and processes for interpretation and use of data.

"We need more professional development around using data from tests and having that impact instruction and interventions."

"[We have] a lot of information but have difficulty organizing that information."

6. Assessment and evaluation: 50% of educators need assistance to understand and evaluate the assessments they use; 43% need assistance to develop new assessments.

Expert Insights

".. more support must be given to teachers to maintain and develop their ability to create, use, interpret, and improve

the full range of assessment tools." (EPIC, page 20).



III. BARRIERS AND CAPACITY OF DISTRICTS/SYSTEMS: RESEARCH, EVALUATION, ASSESSMENT, AND DATA USE

Members of MASE, MASA, and the district assessment coordinators (DACs) were asked to rate their district's capacity (Very Good, Good, Fair, Poor) for research, evaluation, assessment, and data use. The largest percentage of respondents indicated their **capacity was fair or poor** across all areas.

District and school capacity was rated by administrators as insufficient (Fair/Poor) for key functions to use data.



7. **Professional development and support:** The majority of educational leaders believe their capacity for training and support for high quality interpretation (70%) and use of data (66%) was either fair or poor.

"CAREI could provide—help with questions, help with the model, help with technology."

8. **District assessment programs:** District and school administrators need more capacity to develop surveys for staff and students (66% Fair/Poor), monitor student progress (57%), select diagnostic measures (57%), and select screening measures (48%).

9. **Data use:** 54% of districts administrators lack capacity to analyze their data, and 51% lack capacity to report their screening and other types of data.

10. **Personnel and costs** (not depicted in the figure): Only 33% of administrators have staff with advanced training (MA, PhD) in research, evaluation, assessment or data use because qualified personnel are not available, (b) they are too costly, or (c) there is insufficient funding.

> Districts and schools need access to experts "for research, evaluation, assessment, and data-based decision making."

11. **Program evaluation:** 51% of administrators indicated their capacity to evaluate policies and programs was poor. High quality program evaluation is infrequent because of "lack of time" (78%), inadequate staffing/expertise (63%), or cost (53%).

Figure 5. Capacity for Research, Evaluation, Assessment, and Data Use



12. Leaders and policy makers routinely adopt and implement programs. These programs are rarely evaluated because 78% of educational leaders lack the time, 63% lack staff, and 53% lack resources (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Survey Results: Barriers to Program Evaluation





IV. NEEDS OF DISTRICTS/SYSTEMS: RESEARCH, EVALUATION, ASSESSMENT, AND DATA USE

Survey respondents (MASE/MASA and DACs) and interviewees provided information on the unmet needs that schools and districts have in the areas of research, evaluation, assessment, and data use. Results are summarized below.

TIME. As mentioned above, one of the most prevalent needs that people listed was the need for more time to work with data. Examples of comments from survey respondents include:

- ✓ Time for utilization of data.
- Restructuring time for staff to complete mindful research, evaluation and assessments in order to develop data based decisions.
- ✓ Our district data team needs to create a time to meet consistently.
- \checkmark We lack time that is built into to our schedule to examine and discuss data.

TRAINING. Survey respondents and interviewees indicated a need for more training on how to analyze, interpret, use, and display data. This could include the use of common templates or protocols for examining data. Examples of comments from survey respondents include:

- ✓ We need more professional development around using data from tests and having that impact instruction and interventions.
- ✓ Help in using the data provided from testing.
- ✓ We need our teachers to receive professional development on data interpretation and instructional match.
- ✓ We have lots of data, but we struggle with helping teachers use the data to drive instruction effectively.
- ✓ A simple protocol to collect, manage, and relay meaning of data would be a good place to start

STAFF EXPERTISE. Survey respondents and interviewees acknowledged that districts have varying levels of staff expertise to conduct research, evaluation, and assessment tasks. Survey respondents felt that an unmet need of theirs was staff expertise and resources for staffing in this area:

- Respondents indicated a need "for research, evaluation, assessment, and data-based decision making."
- Another indicated that they need "Resources to hire staff to lead in research, evaluation and assessment."
- ✓ A District Assessment Coordinator said they could use the support of "a data expert who could attend regular data meetings with staff."

Expert Insights:

"...districts have people that manage the testing program, but <u>not</u> very many people trained as researchers or with assessment backgrounds.

We have a lot of programs that train principals and even programs that train superintendents, but I think the assessment role is pretty much catch as catch can. Which is another thing that **CAREI** could do with its connection to the university."

(Jim Angermeyr, President, Educational Assessment and Evaluation Services, LLC)



DATA ORGANIZATION. Survey respondents indicated that they could benefit from data organized in a useful manner. Having a uniform system across school districts was also mentioned as something that would enhance the use of data in school districts. Examples of the responses from MASE/MASA and DAC survey respondents include:

- \checkmark Simple access to the data in a manner that can be used to make decisions.
- ✓ Ability for staff to easily pull ... data.
- \checkmark Data bank that is easy to display and not something that takes so much to figure out.
- ✓ Streamlined systems that are not cumbersome to access data.
- ✓ Online data portals where all student data is kept, and is transferable from school to school.
- ✓ No uniform system for student management statewide! This would allow import and export of data between school districts and for comparison between districts... I believe there would be a huge savings in time and resources to get us all moving in the same direction on student information and data.

ASSESSMENT DEVELOPMENT. In the interviews, we heard people talking about how districts need help to use formative and benchmark assessments. We also heard that districts struggle with selecting assessments for their district assessment program. "There are standards for assessments, and we could help districts if they're in the process of selection to look at reliability and validity standards, and content matched with standards" (Dave Heistad, Executive Director of Research, Evaluation & Assessment, Bloomington Public Schools).

Survey respondents also discussed the need for continued help in developing and selecting assessments. Examples of comments from survey respondents include:

- ✓ Continued support on creating assessments aligned to standards.
- \checkmark We need help guiding teachers to create reliable formative assessments.

CAREI'S CAPACITY TO RESPOND TO UNMET NEEDS

Our findings suggest there are many needs across the state that CAREI could meet. It already has the infrastructure, networks, expertise and experience to coordinate services, especially for research, evaluation, assessment, and data use.

CAREI seeks to provide statewide support to policy makers, state educational agencies, and local educational agencies. CAREI can provide research, evaluation, assessment, and data services for state agencies and the more than 2,000 public schools in the state of Minnesota, which serve over 800,000 students. Our work is just beginning and nearly half (48%) of the survey respondents indicated they would likely access services from CAREI. That number will increase substantially as the work and services of the New CAREI become known across the state.

PROPOSED SOLUTION

As a college-wide center at the University of Minnesota (University), The **Center for Applied Research and Educational Improvement (CAREI)** is well-positioned to coordinate efforts and deliver services that meet the needs of the more than 2,000 public schools in the state of Minnesota, which serve over 800,000 students. Many of the school districts do not employ staff with the necessary expertise in research, evaluation, assessment, and



data use. As a result, key methods and processes of data use do not occur, which substantially limits Minnesota's capacity for systematic improvement and learning from data. CAREI can be the entry point and facilitator for policy makers and educational leaders to access faculty, staff, resources, and efficiencies at the University to bring systematic processes and data to life. Learning to improve with data requires collaborative networks among policy makers, practitioners, researchers, evaluators, and psychometricians.

CAREI will coordinate and maintain Networked Improvement Communities (NICs)^{24,25} to facilitate and maintain high quality collaboration and communications among policy makers, educators, researchers, evaluators, and psychometricians. As part of the NIC process, CAREI will serve as a "network hub" to provide training, support, and data analytic services as our school networks engage in trial-and-error solution generation and implementation to move targets to meet their goals. We hope that school districts working together in a networked fashion will allow them to guickly learn about what works, modify implementation as needed, and learn to improve through shared results and information. CAREI will support networks by helping them develop their values, goals, and priorities and then developing tools to measure progress. CAREI will assist with disseminating information about what does and does not work to support improved practice. CAREI will coordinate systematic and focused processes targeted at key challenges at the state and local level. CAREI will assist to develop, compile, disseminate, and automate materials and services to build efficiencies among collaborators and agencies (e.g., automated analysis and reporting of data, surveys, formative assessments, professional development, literature reviews). CAREI will provide these services to policy makers, the Minnesota Department of Education, districts, schools, and educational professionals; the services will be available at a reasonable cost to leverage a high return on investment. It is much more cost effective and efficient to centralize these services where the expertise already exists within the University. Collaboration and services to educational agencies will focus, and make more effective, state and local investments to improve educational outcomes. In addition, CAREI will continue to provide more intensive and specific services to agencies, which include school-based evaluations that require onsite data collection and collaborations with agencies to compete for federal funding of educational programs.

As a low cost nonprofit with an established infrastructure (e.g., University salaries, offices, telecommunication), the value proposition and return on investment for state and local agencies is substantial relative to that of the forprofit agencies and Washington beltway firms who currently provide many of these services.

SUMMARY

Although the state of Minnesota currently has the highest ACT scores in the country, it also has the largest achievement gap between students of color and White students.²⁶ In addition, statewide accountability tests indicate that approximately 40% of students have not met grade level standards in reading and math. The results of this needs

http://www.education.state.mn.us/MDE/Welcome/OfficeCom/CloseAchievGap/056710; http://minnesota.cbslocal.com/2013/08/21/good-guestion-why-such-a-large-achievement-gap-in-mn-classrooms/



²⁴ Bryk, A.S., Gomez, L.M., Grunow, A., & Lemahieu, P.G. (2015). *Learning to Improve: How America's Schools Can Get Better at Getting Better*. Harvard Education Press: Massachusetts.

²⁵ Bryk, A.S., Gomez, L.M., Grunow, A. (2010). Stanford, CA: Getting Ideas into Action: Building Networked Improvement Communities in education. Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching. <u>http://www.carnegiefoundation.org/resources/publications/getting-ideas-action-building-networked-improvement-communities-education/</u>

²⁶ <u>http://www.startribune.com/minnesota-s-achievement-gap-debated-at-nabj-conference/321150101/;</u>

assessment confirm that school districts are in need of professional development and technical assistance in the areas of research, evaluation, assessment and data use. This will assist them in ensuring adequate progress for all students. A previous needs assessment²⁷ found similar results, and a legislatively mandated task force on MTSS (multi-tiered systems of support) had similar recommendations as to those suggested here.²⁸

Overall, the survey and interview data collected for this CAREI needs assessment suggest that although many districts are doing excellent work in the areas of research, evaluation, and assessment, there are also still many unmet needs as documented in our findings. The results of this needs assessment suggest four conclusions:

- 1. Respondents to our surveys and interviews believe that high-quality data can improve their decisionmaking.
- 2. There is a large need for increased "data literacy" at all levels including teachers and administrators. Schools are data rich but information poor.²⁹ An overarching theme was that our school staff and leaders need to understand how to use data for various types of decisions related to student outcomes. They are not always sure what data to collect or what pieces of information are worthy of their attention.
- 3. Districts currently lack capacity in the area of data-based decision-making for a wide variety of reasons, mostly centered on training and a lack of staff with expertise in research, evaluation, and assessment. Districts do not have the resources to meet all the research, evaluation, and assessment needs that they have due to lack of time, lack of professional development in these areas, lack of personnel trained in these areas, and lack of resources.
- 4. A need exists to expand services in the area of research, evaluation, and assessment so that all school districts in Minnesota have the technical assistance they need to improve educational outcomes for all students.

CAREI is well-positioned to address the statewide gaps in the areas listed above. CAREI will be able to provide the infrastructure needed in our state in the areas of research, evaluation, and assessment. We at CAREI intend to leverage quality services to school districts through collaborative efforts with key stakeholders in our state. We all agree on a common mission and that is to improve outcomes for all of Minnesota's students.

"We must demand better. We must demand a system that expects teachers to regularly assess and provide high-quality feedback to their students, and one that supports teachers in developing and maintaining the many skills needed to do so. We must demand a system that values quality of state testing over quantity, while addressing the very real crisis of achievement gaps. We must demand a system that empowers schools and their surrounding communities to work together to define goals that include, but also transcend those established by the state, and to work together in pursuit of those goals." (EPIC, 2015. Testing Better: How to Improve Minnesota's Use of Assessments in Education. P.36)

²⁹ Slotnik, W.J., & Orland, M. (May 6, 2010). Data Rich but Information Poor. *Education Week, 29* (31). Retrieved from: <u>http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2010/05/06/31slotnik.h29.html.</u>



²⁷ Gozali-Lee, E. (2014, June). Overall Results of the 2014 Minnesota Response to Intervention Implementation Survey. St. Paul, MN: Wilder Research.

²⁸ Wilder Research. (2014, November). 2014 Implementation Portrait of Multi-tiered System of Supports and English Language Arts Standards. Presentation given to MTSS Task-Force, MN.